STATE OF GH O
DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES
DIVISION OF O L AND GAS MANAGEMENT

In re:

The Matter of the . Application Date:
Application of EAP Cct ober 27, 2025
Chi o, LLC for Unit :

Oper ati on

R&D Cooper NBU B Uni t

Bef ore Hearing Host Jeff Large
All Parties Appearing Renotely
Decenmber 18, 2025, 11:30 a.m

Spectrum Reporting LLC
400 South Fifth Street, Ste. 201
Col unbus, Ohio 43215
614- 444- 1000 or 800-635-9071
WWW. spect runt eporting. com

Realtinme - Videoconferencing - Trial Presentation - Video
Spectrum Reporting LLC | 614-444-1000




~N~ o o B~ w N

©o© 0

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

APPEARANCES

ON BEHALF OF EAP CH O, LLC

St ept oe & Johnson PLLC
41 South Hi gh St

Col unmbus, OH 43215

By John C. Ferrell, Esqg.
(Vi a videoconference)

ALSO PRESENT:

Bri an Shafer (Via videoconference)
Colt Munden (Via videoconference)
Jani ce Bond (Vi a videoconference)
Kat hy Davis (Via videoconference)
Li nus Troyer (Via videoconference)
Marci e Wat son (Vi a videoconference)
Paul Casper (Via videoconference)
Regi na Bryant (Via videoconference)
Robert Haug (Vi a videoconference)
Travis Barker (Via videoconference)

Jason Lucas, Esq. (Via videoconference)

Realtinme - Videoconferencing - Trial Presentation - Video
Spectrum Reporting LLC | 614-444-1000




~N~ o o B~ w N

©o© 0

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

Il NDEX

Wt nesses Page
WIIl Porter

M. Ferrell - D rect 12
Davi d Kos

M. Ferrell - Direct 24
John Dwyer

M. Ferrell - Direct 34

Realtinme - Videoconferencing - Trial Presentation - Video

Spect rum Reporting LLC |

614-444-1000




© 00 N o g M~ O w N P

[EEN
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

I NDEX
Exhi bits Page
Exhibit A - Application 16
Exhibit D - Unit Mp 10
Exhibit G - Contact Affidavit 17

(PDF exhibits attached to the transcript.)

Realtinme - Videoconferencing - Trial Presentation - Video
Spectrum Reporting LLC | 614-444-1000




© 00 N o g M~ O w N P

[EEN
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

PROCEEDI NGS

MR. LARGE: Good norning, everyone.
Before we begin, | would |like to go over sone
i nstructions for this video and tel ephone
conf erence.

| f you have joined online, please nute
your m crophone. |f you have called in via phone,
pl ease use the "nute" feature of your phone. Once
t he hearing begins, everyone will be nuted except
for those presenting. |f you have called in, you
can unnute yourself by pressing "star 6."

Wtnesses for the Applicant and anyone
W shing to nmake comments, please wait to be
i ndi vidual ly called upon by your attorney or by
the Division before speaking. Please nute your
m crophones anytinme you are not speaking and when
you have finished presenting to avoid any
f eedback.

| am now aski ng anyone who woul d Iike
to make coments, please state your nane slowy
and clearly for the Division. Please identify

whet her you are an unl eased m neral owner, working
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I nterest owner, or an owner with property in the
R&D Cooper NBU B unit. | would also like this

I nformation fromanyone who represents any of
these persons. W will nmake note of your nane and
call upon you when it is tinme for comments.

| f you have joined us via WbEx and
woul d |i ke to make comrents, please unnute
yoursel f now and state your nane.

Heari ng none.

| f you have joined us via phone and
woul d |i ke to make comrents, please unnute
yourself now by pressing "star 6" and state your
name.

MR. BARKER: Not sure if you can hear
nme, but ny nanme is Travis, and we have mnerals in
this unit. W just have a couple questions |ater
on when you have tine.

MR. LARGE: GCkay. Can | get a |ast
name for you, Travis?

MR. BARKER: Bar ker.

MR. LARGE: Thank you. | have your
nanme down, and we will call upon you when it is
time for cooments and questi ons.

| s there anyone else that would like to
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make comments or ask questions?

Heari ng none.

Wth that, we will begin the hearing.

M. Cosby.

MR. COSBY: Today is Thursday,

Decenmber 18th, 2025. And we are here on the
matter of the application of EAP Chio, LLC for the
unit operation of the R& Cooper NBU B unit. This
heari ng before the Chio Departnent of Natural
Resources, Division of G| and Gas Resource
Managenent, is convened pursuant to Chio Revised
Code 1509.28. M nane is Cory Cosby, and I ama
program adm ni strator for the Division. Also with
nme today is Program Adm nistrator Jeff Large. W
are conducting the hearing today and serve as the
Chief's designees on this natter.

On COctober 27th, 2025, EAP filed with
the Division an application for unit operation for
a unit designated as the R&D Cooper NBU B unit.
EAP fil ed subsequent revisions to the application.
The unit is proposed to be | ocated in Noble
County, Ohio. In its application, EAP clains to
have the mneral rights through voluntary

agreenents to approximately 1,072. 68553 acres of
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the desired approximate 1,472.727 acre-unit.

The purpose of today's hearing is to
determ ne whet her EAP's R&D Cooper NBU B unit
application neets all the requirenents of Revised
Code 1509.28. Under that section, the Chief of
the Division nust issue an order if he determ nes
that the Applicant has shown that, one, the unit
I S reasonably necessary to increase substantially
the ultimate recovery of oil and gas; and two, the
estimated additional recovery fromthe unit
exceeds additional costs.

Nei ther the Chief nor any of us here
t oday have nade any deci sions on EAP' s
application. After today's hearing, we wl|
review all the information provided to us in order
to make a determ nation. W have a court reporter
present as well, and we will al so have a copy of
the transcript of this hearing for review

The Chief's decision will be issued via
a Chief's Order, which wll be posted on the
Di vision website. Pursuant to Revised Code
1509. 36, any order may be appealed within 30 days
after the day upon which the person to whomthe

order was issued received the order, and for al
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ot her persons adversely affected by the order
within 30 days after the day of the order

conpl ai ned of.

The hearing will proceed as foll ows:
EAP will present its wi tnesses and exhibits and
wi || answer questions posed by the D vision staff.

Any unl eased mi neral owners, working interest
owners, and those persons with property included
I n the proposed R&D Cooper NBU B unit will have
the opportunity to present questions and concerns
to the Division staff, and the Division staff may
take a break to determne if there are any
addi ti onal questions for the Applicant.

To proceed in an orderly fashion, we
ask that any interested parties who speak here
t oday pose any questions to the Division, and we
wi Il then ask gquestions to EAP

Addi tionally, anyone speaki ng today

will be asked to provide their information to the
court reporter. |f you are unconfortabl e speaking
during the hearing, we wll also accept witten

comments. Travis Barker has indicated they w sh
to make comments, and those comments can be nade

at the end of the hearing.
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W will now ask the Applicant to nake
I ntroductions and begin its presentation.

MR, FERRELL: Thank you.

My nane is John Ferrell. M
co-counsel, Jason Lucas, and | are attorneys with
St ept oe and Johnson PLLC here on behal f of the
Applicant, EAP Chio, LLC. EAP is asking the
Division to grant an order for unit operations for
the R&D Cooper NBU B unit or, for short, the
“Cooper B" unit. The unit is proposed to be
| ocated in Buffalo, Center, and Nobl e Townshi ps,
Nobl e County, Chio. As you will hear from EAP' s
W t nesses, EAP and the consenting working interest
owners are the owner, as that termis defined in
Ohi 0 Revi sed Code Section 1509. 28, of 72.836685
percent of the acreage in the proposed Cooper B
unit, which exceeds the 65 percent threshold set
by Chi o Revised Code Section 1509.28. As can be
seen from Exhibit Dto the application -- and if
you can just bear with us, we are having a
technical issue with our Powerpoint. | apologize.
G ve ne one second.

As can be seen from Exhibit D to the

application, which is now on the screen, the
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proposed Cooper B unit consists of 125 tracts
totaling approximately 1,472.727 acres. EAP
proposes to drill two horizontal wells froma pad
site located near the northwestern portion of the
unit, drilling the 5H and the 7H in a sout heastern
direction. The lateral portion of those wells
wi || each extend horizontally through the unit for
approxi mately 20,050 feet for the 5H and 19, 088
feet for the 7H  EAP seeks an order for unit
operations fromthe Division because there are
unl eased or partially unleased tracts in
non-consenting or partially non-consenting tracts
in the unit.

In support of its application, EAP wll
call WII Porter, a |landman; David Kos, a
geol ogi st; and John Dwyer, a reservoir engineer,
who will each testify that the application neets
the requirenents for granting an order for unit
operations under Chio Revised Code Section
1509.28. Wth that, | would |Ii ke to ask
perm ssion to call EAP's first witness, WII
Porter.

MR, LARGE: Can we please swear in the

W t ness?
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WLL PORTER

being first duly sworn, testifies and says as
foll ows:

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR FERRELL
Q Wul d you pl ease state your nane and
pl ace of enpl oynent ?
A. My name is WII Porter. | work for EOG

Resources, the parent conpany of EAP.

Q What is your position at ECG?
A. Seni or | andman.
Q Can you pl ease describe for the

Di vi si on your educational background?

A | hold a Bachel or degree in Energy
Managenent fromthe University of Okl ahoma.

Q Pl ease descri be your professiona
experience in the oil and gas industry.

A. |"ve worked for EOG since graduating
college in May of 2018. During ny tine at EOG
I"ve had the opportunity of working nultiple
areas, including EOG s Wodford asset in lahoma
as well as our Utica asset in Chio. |[|'ve

coordinated leasing and title efforts, executed
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13

| easehol d acqui sitions, and devel oped operating
units in both Gkl ahoma and Chi o.

Q Are you a nenber of any professiona
associ ati ons?

A Yes, |I'ma nenber of the Anmerican
Associ ation of Professional Landnen and have been
an active nmenber since 2018. |'malso a nenber of
the Okl ahoma City Association of Professional
Landnen, as well as the M chael Late Benedum
Chapter of the Association of Professional
Landnen.

Q Are there continuing education

requi renments to maintain your nenberships?

A Yes, there are.

Q Pl ease descri be your work and your
responsibilities as a senior |andnman w th EOG

A. As a senior |landman, | help facilitate
t he devel opnent of EOG s Utica Shal e asset and
manage all aspects of |andwork, including
participation in | ease acquisitions, title review,
| easehol d trade agreenents, and devel opnent

pl anni ng.

Q Are you famliar with the application

for unitization of the Cooper B unit?
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A Yes, | am

Q |"d like to turn your attention now to

the col or-coded maps on the slide that appears at

Exhibit D of the application. |Is this a depiction
of the proposed Cooper B unit?

Yes, it is.

VWhat is the size of the Cooper B unit?

It is approximately 1,472.727 acres.

VWhere is it | ocated?

> O > O

Wthin Buffal o, Noble, and Center
Townshi ps in Noble County, Ohio.

Q Can you pl ease descri be what

i nformation is depicted on this map?

A The map shows all 125 parcels that are
I ncluded within the Cooper B unit, each identified
by a tax parcel nunber and given a tract nunber.

It al so categorizes each parcel by its status
Wthin the unit. Yellow parcels are |eased and
consenting. Geen parcels are non-consenti ng.

Red parcels are unl eased. Those tracts that are
crosshatched fall into nultiple categories. The
bl ack dotted lines illustrate the 400-foot setback
requi rement as required by Chio law. And lastly,

the map shows the planned surface | ocation and the
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two planned wells the EAP plans to drill and
produce fromthe Ui ca-Point Pleasant pool.

Q You nentioned there will be two wells
in this unit. How many wells wll be drilled from

the pad in total ?

A. W plan to drill eight wells total from
t hi s pad.
Q Does EAP have a right to drill and

operate wells fromthe pad?

A Yes.

Q What is the expected | ength of each of
the laterals if an order for unit operations is
grant ed?

A Approxi mately 20,050 feet for the 5H

| ateral and 19,088 feet for the 7H

Q Does the lateral placenment conply with

Ohi o statutory setbacks?

A Yes, it does.

Q What is your expected devel opnent
timeline?

A. W will drill and conplete the wells in

conpliance with the timefrane specified in the
Chief's Order, if an order is issued.

Q What percentage of this unit has
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consented to unit operations?

A. Bet ween EAP and consenti ng wor ki ng

I nterest owners, 72.836685 percent of the unit has
consented to operations.

Q Who are the consenting working interest
owners in this unit?

A EAP Chio, LLC, EOG Resources; |ronhead
Resources |11, LLC, Wallace Fam |y Partnership,

LP; and Collins Uica, LLC

Q Are there non-consenting owners in the
uni t?
A. Yes, several. They are listed on

Exhibit A of the application.

Q What percentage of the Cooper B unit
remai NS non-consenti ng?

A 15. 897934 percent.

Q How many acres do those non-consenti ng
I nterests account for?

A. 234.133167 net m neral acres.

Q What is the status of EAP' s efforts to
obtain consent fromthose non-consenting worKking
I nterest owners?

A Over the course of several nonths, we

have of fered non-consenting owners the opportunity

Realtinme - Videoconferencing - Trial Presentation - Video
Spectrum Reporting LLC | 614-444-1000




© 00 N o g M~ O w N P

[EEN
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

17

to sell, trade, or purchase their interest in the
unit for the parties listed in the application.
And as outlined in Exhibit G we have ongoi ng
efforts to obtain consent fromthe non-consenting
| easehol d owners.

Q What percentage of the unit is conposed
of unl eased interests?

A Approximately 11. 26538 percent.

Q How many acres in the unit do those

unl eased i nterests account for?

A Approxi mately 165. 9083 net mi neral
acr es.
Q Can you generally descri be EPA' s

efforts to | ease the owners of those unl eased
tracts?

A Yes. We nake efforts to | ease all of
the unl eased interests, and those efforts are
listed on our leasing affidavit. Generally
speaki ng, we make phone calls, send mail, and have
I n-person neetings to try to reach nutual ly
agreeabl e | ease terns.

Q Since the filing of the application

has EAP continued its efforts to | ease those

unl eased m neral owners and to commt or acquire
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the interests held by the non-consenting working

I nt erest owners?

A Yes.
Q Turning now to another part of the
application, I would |ike to ask you about the

unit plan that is included. Wat is the purpose
of the unit plan?

A The purpose of the unit planis
twofold. First, it helps define the respective
rights of the parties in the unit. And second, it
conbines the oil and gas rights as if the unit was
under one | ease.

Q How wi Il royalties and expenses be

al l ocated pursuant to the unit plan?

A. On a surface acreage basis.
Q Wiy is that?
A. For the reasons which will be discussed

by our geologists, as well as this is the only way
| have seen allocation in ny experience in Chio.

Q So fromyour experience, this

al l ocati on nethodology is comon in Chio for the
Uti ca- Poi nt Pl easant?

A Yes.

Q Who pays unit expenses?

18
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A. The participating working interest
owners.
Q Do royalty owners pay unit expenses

under the terns of the unit plan?

A. No, they do not.
Q Thank you.
MR, FERRELL: | have no further

gquestions for M. Porter.

MR. LARGE: Good norning, M. Porter.

THE WTNESS: Good norni ng.

MR, LARGE: Could you pl ease descri be
what efforts you have taken to identify unknown or
undeterm ned m neral owners?

THE WTNESS: Yeah. So, we use a
nunber of different efforts to identify these
unknown owners through obituaries, online
geneal ogy websites, reaching out to famly
menbers, and nore.

MR. LARGE: Thank you. |[If you were to
receive a unitization order, can you descri be what
happens to any paynents that would be owed to
unknown or undeterm ned m neral owners under that
order?

THE W TNESS: Yes, they would be held
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I N suspense.

MR. LARGE: And what is the current
average outstanding offer to the unl eased m neral
owners in the proposed unit?

THE W TNESS: Current average
outstandi ng offers are $2,904.39 at an 18. 48
percent average royalty.

MR, LARGE: Is that average royalty
based on a net or gross anount?

THE WTNESS: It is a mxed bag. That
Is atermthat is negotiated.

MR. LARGE: And those offers include
surface use?

THE WTNESS: |In sone cases, yes. But
again, that is a negotiable term So it is kind
of a m xed bag.

MR, LARGE: kay. And when will those
of fers expire?

THE WTNESS: They will not expire as
| ong as we are having productive conversations
that are constructive with the | andowners.

MR. LARGE: GCkay. And what is the
average offer that was accepted by the | eased

m neral owners in the proposed unit?
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THE WTNESS:. The average offer
accepted was $4,191.29 at an 18.53 percent average
royalty.

MR. LARGE: And can you pl ease explain
the difference between the current offer and
average accepted offers?

THE WTNESS: Yeah, we negotiate | eases
w th our | andowners by taking into consideration
particul ar provisions they request, their parce
| ocation, and the size of the land. So the bonus
and royalty are just one part of the negotiation
process there.

MR, LARGE: kay. And do you believe
your | ease attenpts have been reasonabl e?

THE W TNESS: Yes.

MR. LARGE: And can you tell nme a
little bit about why?

THE WTNESS: Yeah. So, we've reached
out to mneral owners over the course of nmultiple
years and several attenpts. W've successfully
t aken hundreds of leases in this area and continue
to negotiate with interested mneral owners. W
would like to enter into a nutual ly agreeabl e

| ease with any party that w shes to.
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MR, LARGE: kay. And will you
continue attenpts to | ease the unl eased m neral
owners after the hearing and after a unitization
order is issued, if one is issued?

THE W TNESS: Yes.

MR. LARGE: And do you believe your
attenpts to commt non-consenting working interest
owners have been reasonable? And can you tell ne
alittle bit about why?

THE W TNESS: Yeah. So, we have
of fered industry standard terns for entering into
JOAs as well as offers to purchase, trade, or
ot herw se acquire the outstanding working interest
owners.

MR LARGE: And will you continue your
attenpts to commt non-consenting working interest
owners after today's hearing?

THE WTNESS: Yeah, we will definitely
conti nue negotiations with non-consenting worKking
I nterest owners. As far as the continuati on goes,
once a unit order is issued, if one is issued,
those owners will be subject to the unit agreenent
and the operating agreenent. But up until that

time, we wll definitely continue negotiating.
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MR, LARGE: kay. And do the leases in
the unit authorize drilling into and producing
fromthe proposed unitized formation?

THE W TNESS: Yes.

MR. LARGE: And to establish bonus and
royalty anmounts and | eases, how are those
general |y determ ned?

THE WTNESS: Yeah. So those are -- we
work with our reservoir teamin order to
under stand the range of bonus and associ at ed
royalty rate as guidance. So we use that as kind
of a starting point. Fromthere, conpetition in
the area is a main driver to increase and decrease
bonus and royalty. W also adjust for other
factors such as the pricing environnent, parcel
si ze, and parcel |ocation.

MR. LARGE: Thank you.

M . Cosby, do you have any questions?

MR. COSBY: No, | do not. Thank you.

MR. LARGE: Thank you.

M. Ferrell, please call your next
W t ness.

MR FERRELL: Thank you. Wth

perm ssion, EAP calls David Kos.
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MR, LARGE: And can we please swear in

the w t ness?

DAVI D KGS
being first duly sworn, testifies and says as
foll ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR FERRELL.:
Q Can you pl ease state your nane and

pl ace of enpl oynent?

A. It is David Kos, and | work at EOG
Resour ces.

Q What is your position at EQG?

A. | am a geol ogi cal specialist.

Q Coul d you pl ease describe for the

Di vi si on your educational background that led to
your position as a geol ogi cal specialist,

I ncl udi ng any degrees you hol d?

A. Yeah. [In 2005, | graduated fromthe
Uni versity of Calgary with a Bachel or of Science
degree i n CGeol ogy.

Q After you received your degree, did you
begi n wor ki ng as a geol ogi st?

A Yes, imedi ately upon graduati ng.

24
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Q Pl ease briefly describe your

pr of essi onal experience and work history.

A From 2005 to 2007, | worked for Petrel
Robertson Consul ting, helping out with regional
mappi ng projects. And from 2007 to 2012, | worked
for Husky Energy, where | worked in the Western
Canadi an Territory Basin. And from 2012 to 2015,

| worked for EOG Resources in the Canadi an
Division. | focused on exploration with sone
devel opnent, drilling, and various fornmations

wi thin the Western Canadi an Sedi nentary Basi n.

And from 2015 to 2022, | worked for EOG Resources
I n the Denver Division, working primarily in the
Powder River and DJ Basins in both exploration and
devel opnment roles. And then from 2022 until now,

| have worked in the Cklahoma Division, officially
devel opi ng our Whodford assets in the Anadarko
Basin and now focusing on the play in the

Appal achi an Basi n.

Q Are you a nenber of any professiona
associ ati ons?

A Yes, | am a nenber of the Anerican
Associ ati on of Petrol eum Geol ogi sts.

Q Pl ease descri be your work as a
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geol ogi cal specialist at EOG

A. As a geological specialist, ny role is
to incorporate all necessary geol ogi cal data for
pl anni ng and executing wells in EOG s Ui ca-Poi nt
Pl easant assets. Sone of ny genera

responsi bilities include anal yzi ng geol ogi cal data
sets like seismc and core sanples to create

geol ogi ¢ maps, and these maps are used for

geol ogic risk assessnent, optim zing well
performance, el evating acreage and asset

devel opnent, well planning, and also for

geost eeri ng.

Q Are you famliar with the application
for unitization of the Cooper B unit, including

t he geol ogy exhibits that appear in that
appl i cation?

A Yes, | am

Q Can you pl ease descri be what the term
"unitized formation" neans with respect to the
Cooper B?

A. And it neans 50 feet above the top of
the Utica Shale and 50 feet bel ow the base of the
Trenton Li nmestone.

Q Did you do any analysis to determne if
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the unitized formation is a pool or part of a
pool, as required for unitization under Chio | aw?
A Yes.

Q Are you aware that the word "pool" has
a specific neaning for purposes of EAFP' s
application under Onhio | aw?

A Yes.

Q And what does it nean to say that the
unitized formation is part of a pool under Chio

| aw?

A A "pool" is an underground reservoir
contai ning a common accunul ation of oil or gas, or
bot h, but does not include a gas storage
reservoir. Each zone of the geologic structure
that is conpletely separated from any ot her zone
in the sanme structure may contain a separate pool.
Q Was that definition used for purposes
of your geol ogic analysis of the Cooper B unit?
A Yes.

Q What i nformati on have you anal yzed to
determ ne whether the unitized formati on was a
pool or a part of a pool ?

A. | have revi ewed avail abl e geol ogi cal

data such as well 1ogs, sanple cuttings, and other

Realtinme - Videoconferencing - Trial Presentation - Video
Spectrum Reporting LLC | 614-444-1000




© 00 N o g M~ O w N P

[EEN
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

28

nmeasur abl e rock properties to gain information
such as porosity, perneability, water saturation,
m neral content, and thermal nmaturity of organic
material. Correlation of this information over a
| arge area reveal ed a regional picture or trend of
the Ui ca-Point Pleasant pool.

Q Can you pl ease descri be what this map
on the screen shows, and why it is relevant to
your geol ogi c anal ysis?

A. Yes, this map shows the Cooper B unit
as the green circle. The two nearby pilot wells
are the red squares that were used as part of ny
anal ysis to descri be pool underneath the Cooper B
unit. Al so shown here is a cross-section |line
fromthe pilot wells to the Cooper B unit with the
correspondi ng di stances not ed.

Q Can you pl ease explain what this
exhibit is on the screen and how it relates to
your geol ogi ¢ anal ysi s?

A Yes. This is a cross-section of the
pilot wells adjacent to the Cooper B unit, which
is in the mddle of the cross-section. Ceologic
mappi ng shows the Uica Shale underlies the entire

Cooper B unit, and is of the sanme approxi nmate
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t hi ckness and reservoir quality throughout the
unit area. You can see the accunul ati on of oi

and gas extends in all directions fromthe
proposed unit. The rock properties such as

| ithol ogy, bulk density, and fluid type are
simlar throughout the entire unit and constitute
a common source of supply. This is shown by the
gamma ray resistivity and bul k density | ogs on the
cross-section. Al the logs shown in the
cross-section have a very simlar character in
both wells.

Q Pl ease expl ain how gamma ray works and
why it is relevant to your analysis.

A. The ganma-ray | og records the anount of
natural ganma radi ation emtted by the rocks
surroundi ng the borehole. The gamma-ray log is
used to help correlate different formations and
drive lithol ogies. For exanple: sandstone, shale,
and car bonat es.

Q How was that reflected on this slide?
A. The ganma-ray log is a green curve on
both wells, and you can see the curves across the
pilot wells are simlar.

Q What do these pilot well gama-ray
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graphs tell us about the Cooper B unit?

A. The pilot wells have a very simlar
ganma-ray sighature indicating the gamma-ray
signature under the Cooper B unit would be simlar
and have simlar properties to these two pil ot
wel | s.

Q Can you explain how resistivity works
and why it is relevant to your anal ysis?

A. Sure. The resistivity | og neasures the
el ectrical resistivity of the formation and is
used to determne formation's fluid type: water,
oil, or gas. Water-bearing formations typically
have a low resistivity, while hydrocarbon-bearing
formations typically have high resistivity.

Q How was that reflected on this slide?
A. Resistivity log is a red curve on both
pilot wells, and once again curves across both
pilot wells are very simlar.

Q What do these pilot wells resistivity
graphs tell us about the Cooper B unit?

A. The 1 ogs have simlar resistivity

si gnatures across the Ui ca-Point Pleasant,

i ndi cating there's a uniform hydrocarbon

saturation across the area and under the Cooper B
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unit.

Q Finally, please explain porosity and
why it is relevant to your analysis.

A The porosity of a rock is the neasure
of storage space, or enpty space, within the rock.
It is one of the logs used to estimte the vol une
of hydrocarbon storage in a formation. Neutron
porosity is a neasure of the hydrogen atons
present in the reservoir fluid and hel ps identify

the fluid type.

Q How was porosity reflected on this
slide?
A Density is the black curve and neutron

porosity is the blue curve on the cross-section
for both wells. As you can see, both the density
and neutron porosity have a simlar character
showi ng a uni form anount of storage across the
area and under the control unit.

Q Did you use the data and anal ysis you
just described to forma professional opinion
about whether the unitized formation described in
the application is a pool or part of a pool?

A Yes.

Q What is your professional opinion?
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A. That the unitized formation is part of
a pool .
Q s there uniformthickness across the

unitized formation in the Cooper B unit?

A Yes.

Q What is the thickness of the Utica
Shal e- Poi nt Pl easant Interval underlying the
Cooper B unit?

A. It is approximately 286 feet thick.

Q What is the height of your target zone
for the well bore?

A. It is 50 feet, and it is shown by the
green box on the cross-section.

Q G ven your opinion that the unitized
formation is part of a pool and has uniform

t hi ckness across the unit, in your professional
opinion, would it be appropriate to allocate unit
expenses and paynents of the proceeds of oil and

gas production fromthe unit on a surface acreage

basi s?
A Yes.
Q I n your experience, is it comon to

al |l ocate paynents on a surface acreage basis for

unit operations in the Uica Shale play?

32
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Yes, it is.

Thank you.

MR. FERRELL: No further questions for
M. Kos.

MR. LARGE: Good norning, M. Kos.

THE WTNESS: Good norni ng.

MR, LARGE: Could you please tell ne
the anticipated true vertical depth of the
hori zontal portion of the well bores?

THE WTNESS: Yeah. [It'll be
approxi mately 7,060 feet.

MR. LARGE: And what is the anticipated
true vertical depth of the top of the Utica- Point
Pl easant and the Trenton?

THE WTNESS: The top of the Uica wll
be 6,826 feet up. The top of the Point Pl easant
will be 7,005 feet. And the top of the Trenton
will be 7,112 feet.

MR. LARGE: And do you expect any
production from outside the Point Pleasant?

THE W TNESS: Yes, maybe a little bit
out of the base of the Utica where the porosity is
a bit higher.

MR. LARGE: Thank you.
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M. Cosby. Do you have any questions?
MR. COSBY: No, | do not. Thank you.
MR. LARGE: Thank you.

M. Ferrell, please call your next

Wi t ness.

MR. FERRELL: W th perm ssion, EAP
call s John Dwyer.

MR, LARGE: And can we please swear in

the W tness?

JOHN DWYER
being first duly sworn, testifies and says as
fol |l ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR FERRELL:

Q Pl ease state your nanme and pl ace of
enpl oynent .
A My name is John Dwyer, and | work at

ECG Resour ces.

Q Can you pl ease describe for the

Di vi si on your educational background that led to
you becom ng a reservoir engineer, including any
degrees that you hol d?

A Sure. | hold a Chem cal Engi neering

34
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degree from Purdue University and a Master of

Busi ness Admi nistration fromthe University of

M chi gan.

Q Pl ease tell the Division about your
wor k experi ence.

A. | have worked in the industry for over
12 years now. |In chronol ogical order, | have

wor ked at Hal l'i burton, Wiiting Petrol eum Devon
Energy, and EOCG Resources. My background i ncl udes
extensi ve operations and experience in fracturing,
wel |l intervention, and well construction, as well
as technical experience and reservoir sinmulation.
Q Are you a nenber of any professiona

associ ati ons?

A. Yes, | am the Society of Petrol eum
Engi neers.
Q Pl ease describe your responsibilities

and work as a reservoir engineer for EOG

A My primary job responsibilities are to
forecast future production for producing wells and
undevel oped wells, and to estimate the reserves,
recoveries, and econom cs of the devel opnent
scenarios. | use this information to work with ny

teamto recommend how EOCG shoul d develop its
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assets to maxi m ze val ue and resource recovery.

Q Did you assist with preparing the
application for unitization of the Cooper B unit?
A Yes, | did.

Q Now, | understand that you have

anal yzed the potential recovery of oil and gas
fromthe Cooper B and the associ ated econom cs of
the unit under two scenarios. First, if the unit
was drilled without an order for unit operations,

and second, if it was drilled with an order for

unit operations. |Is that correct?
A. Yes, that is accurate.
Q Let's talk first about what the well

configurations would be in each scenario so we can
under st and your econom ¢ analysis. Are you
famliar with this map up on the screen?

A Yes, | am

Q Does this map accurately depict the
configuration of the wells that formthe basis of
your operational and econom c anal ysi s?

A. Yes, 1t does.

Q Wl EAP produce fromthe entire | ength
of each lateral if unit operations are approved?

A. Yes.
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Q | f EAP does not receive an order

aut hori zing unit operations, what woul d be the
configuration and extent of the lateral s?

A In this case, the 5H lateral would be
reduced to 168 feet, and the 7H | ateral woul d be
reduced to 438 feet.

Q Now | et's tal k about the econom cs and
production in both the unitized and non-unitized
scenari os as you have analyzed it. Are these
tabl es the economcs tables that were included in
the | atest supplenent to the application for the
Cooper B unit?

A Yes, they are.

Q Using the bottomtable here, can you
tell us what the differences are in lateral |ength
bet ween the unitized and non-unitized scenari os?
A. Sure. So, for the 5H lateral, it is
19,882 feet for the difference. And the
difference for the 7H lateral is 18,650 feet.

Q When nmaki ng your cal cul ations, what do
you look at to estimate the potential recovery
fromthe Cooper B unit?

A. | create a type curve for the proposed

| ateral s based on the performance of anal ogous
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producing wells in the area. 1In this analysis, |
consi der many variabl es such as thermal maturity,
conpl etion paraneters, proximty, and previous

wel | conpetition.

Q Does this exhibit up on the screen show
the wells that you used in your analysis?

A Yes, it does.

Q Does the information on this table on
the screen relate to the nunbered anal ogue wells

you were just discussing?

A Yes, it does.

Q And what is shown in this map on the
screen?

A This map shows all permtted, drilled,

or proposed wells in the proposed unitized
formations in the townshi ps where the proposed
Cooper B unit is |ocated.

Q Turni ng back to the econom cs tables,
we di scussed the lateral length colum. But I'd
li ke to ask you about the other columms. In
particul ar, can you explain what operating costs
are and give sone exanpl es of operating costs?
A. Sure. So, "lease operating expenses”

are the day-to-day costs incurred by the wells
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after production begins. These costs include

vari abl e oil, gas processing and transportation,
water transportation, as well as a fixed nonthly
cost in dollar per well.

Q Now |'d |like to ask you about the strip
price table that is up on the screen right now
What is that, and how does it factor into your

cal cul ati ons?

A. Sure. So this is the NYMEX strip price
effective October 22nd, 2025. | used these price
estimates to calculate the oil and gas revenues.

Q Back to the econom cs table once nore.

| see that the next colum is "Capital Costs."
What is included in the capital costs?

A. Qur capital costs include | and
drilling, conpletions, flowback facilities, and

| and recl amati on costs.

Q What are the costs for |and

recl amati on?

A. So, it is split into two buckets. The
first bucket of course is P& A, and that is $38, 000
per well. And then the second bucket is
restoration reclamation costs, which is $39,000

per well. So, together, it is $77,000 per well to
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P&A and recl aim

Q What do "PVO" and "PV10" nean in these
t abl es?
A. So, the PV stands for "present value."

And present value is inclusive of operating and
capital costs that can be represented at different
di scount rates to account for the tinme val ue of
noney. So in this instance, PVO is a 0O percent

di scount rate and PV10 is a 10 percent discount.

Q Are those PV nunbers net of reasonably
expected capital costs and operating expenses?

A. Yes, they are.

Q Movi ng over now to estimated gross
recovery. Wiat is that?

A. Estimated gross recovery is the

esti mated vol une of recovered oil and gas
converted into BCFe, which stands for billion
cubic feet equivalent. W use a six-to-one ratio
assunption of gas to oil.

Q Under the unitized scenario on this
table, can you tell the D vision what you estinate
for production vol unes, revenue, expenses, and the
val ue of recovery?

A. Sure. So, in that order, we estinmate

Realtinme - Videoconferencing - Trial Presentation - Video
Spectrum Reporting LLC | 614-444-1000




© 00 N o g M~ O w N P

[EEN
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

that the recovery volunes will be 27.07 BCFe, that
the esti mated val ue of recovery or the revenue
will be 116.73 mllion, that the operating costs
will be 37.86 mllion, that the capital costs wl|
be 25.38 mllion, that the PVO wll be 39.96
mllion, and PV10 will be 19.86 mlli on.

Q Now, can you tell the D vision how

t hose nunbers change in the second table, that
bei ng the non-unitized scenario0?

A. Sure. So in this instance, of course,
the lateral |engths drop. So everything el se
drops. The recovery volunmes would drop to 0.42
BCFe. The undi scounted val ue of estimated
recovery would drop to $1.81 mllion. The
operating costs would be estinated to be $9.08
mllion. The capital costs would be estinmated to
be $4.23 mllion. The PVO would be negative 1.5
mllion. And the PV10O would be negative 2.9
mllion.

Q So when we conpare the unitized and
non-unitized scenarios, in your professional

opi nion, would the estimated ultinmte recovery of
oil and gas increase substantially if the Cooper B

unit could be drilled under an order for unit
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operations as conpared to the non-unitized
scenari 0?

A Yes. The gross increnental resource
recovered in the unitized project is an additional
26. 65 BCFe. Wthout this unitization order, we
woul d have that resource stranded.

Q I n your professional opinion, what is
the value of the estimated additional recovery of
oil and gas with unit operations?

A. Looking at ny tables, we estinmate the
I ncrenmental undi scovered val ue of estinmated
recovery is an additional 114.92 mllion for
capital and operating costs. WlIl -- | amsorry,
that is a value. And then it'll be in exchange
for capital and operating costs of $21.15 million
and $28.78 million, respectively.

Q Thank you.

MR. FERRELL: No further questions for

M. Dwyer.
MR. LARGE: (Good afternoon, M. Dwer.
THE W TNESS: Hey.
MR, LARGE: Could you please tell ne
the estimated economc life of the well in years?

THE WTNESS: Sure. Right now, we
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estimated to be around 42 years.

MR. LARGE: And when do you estimate
you wi Il recover the cost of drilling, testing and
conpleting the wells at one tines, one-and-a-half
times, two tines, and three tinmes?

THE WTNESS: 1'Il read themout to you
in that order in years. It is 1.5, 3.7, 8.65, and
we do not estimate to get three tinmes payout ever.

MR, LARGE: Ckay. And | think soneone
said earlier that there would be of course two
wells with this unit, but eight total fromthis
pad; is that correct?

THE WTNESS: That is correct. Yeah.
So there's four existing wells fromthe Bears unit
on that pad that go north. And then we have -- we
had the unitization for two wells on the Cooper
end yesterday. And these are the additional two.
So, four total for the Cooper-related.

MR, LARGE: Have you factored in cost
for shutdowns of the existing wells due to
si nul t aneous operations?

THE WTNESS: Yes, we have. But like
said yesterday, in these economcs that we're

| ooki ng at, those costs are actually a | ease
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operating cost expense on the Bears wells. So,
that is not -- the SIMOPS costs are not coming to
bear on these. Pardon the word "bear" hononym
there. But anyway, it is not being weighted on
t hese wells.

MR, LARGE: kay. And how are pad
costs accounted for in your calculations?

THE WTNESS: In this case, it is a pad
I nprovenent to drill the additional four wells
shoul d we receive an order for both the R&D Cooper
A and the R&D Cooper B. And so, those -- that
| nprovenent cost is being spread across the four
wells that are -- that we are asking for the unit
her e.

MR, LARGE: kay. And are those shared
equal |y between the wells?

THE WTNESS: Yes, sir. Yeah

MR. LARGE: And did you use actual pad
costs or estimates in your econom cS?

THE WTNESS: These are esti mated.

MR, LARGE: And | think you al ready
answered this, but just to nmake sure: Wat anount
was i ncluded for plugging and restoration cost in

your econom c cal cul ations per well?
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THE W TNESS: $77,000 per well.

MR, LARGE: Thank you.

MR. LARCE: And what is the estinmated
BCFe per thousand feet?

THE WTNESS: It is going to be around
0. 69 BCFe per 1000 feet. Those are our estinmates.

MR, LARGE: And could you also tell ne
the estimted recovery factor in the area?

THE WTNESS: Yes, sir. So we
estimated from5.5 to 6.5 percent.

MR. LARGE: Thank you.

M . Cosby, do you have any questions?

MR. COSBY: Yes, | do. This first one
| mght just have m ssed, but what price was used
I n your econom c cal cul ations there?

THE WTNESS: We will pull that up
right now It was the NYMEX strip price pulled on
Cct ober 22nd, 2025.

MR. COSBY: And then nmy next question,
just for clarity, is about your pad costs. | know
you said that you shared -- they are shared
equal |y between the four wells.

THE WTNESS: This one -- sorry.

MR, COSBY: Can you clarify that a
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little bit, considering that there's only two
wells in the unit? | know there's going to be
four off that pad, but just to ask the question
again, how are the pad costs accounted for in your
cal cul ati ons?

THE WTNESS: Yes, sir. Sorry. | know
| am making this confusing. So, there will be a
total of eight wells total on this pad. There are
four existing wells that go to the north. And
then we will be drilling four wells that go to the
south, should we receive the unit order here and
then the one fromyesterday. The pad costs are
pad i nprovenent costs in order to accomodate the
additional four wells. And so, those pad costs
w Il be spread equally across the new wel |l s that
are going south, if that makes sense. So there
will be four wells that bear the pad inprovenent
cost. And -- yeah, because the pad inprovenent is
for those four wells' benefit.

MR. COSBY: Thank you for clarifying;
we appreciate that. That is all the questions |
have for you. Thank you.

MR, LARGE: Thank you.

So, once again, if you would like to
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make comments, | amfirst going to take all your
nanmes and note whet her you are an unl eased m nera
owner, working interest owner, or an owner wth
property in the unit. Only one person may speak
at atinme to properly record the hearing, and

pl ease mute your m crophones once you have

delivered your coments or questions to avoid any

f eedback.

Addi ti onal |l y, anyone speaki ng today
w il be asked to provide their information to the
court reporter. |If you are unconfortable speaking

during the hearing, we wll also accept witten
conment s.
Now, | have M. Travis Barker down. |Is

there anyone else that would |ike to nake

coment s?

Ckay. M. Barker, are you still wth
us?

MR, BARKER. | am

MR, LARGE: GCkay. Can we pl ease get
himsworn in? W wll get you sworn in, then you

can go ahead and deliver your comments or
guesti ons.

MR. BARKER: Well, what | was going to

Realtinme - Videoconferencing - Trial Presentation - Video
Spectrum Reporting LLC | 614-444-1000




© 00 N o g M~ O w N P

[EEN
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

48

say is, our questions were answered during your
hearing. So | have no questions now.

MR. LARGE: Oh, okay.

| s there anyone else that would like to
gi ve coments or ask questions?

Heari ng none.

Ckay. M. Cosby, do you have any
addi tional questions for the Applicant?

MR COSBY: No, | do not.

MR. LARGE: And does the Applicant have
any cl osing remarks?

MR. FERRELL: Yes, | do. Thank you.

W'd Iike to thank the Division for its
time today. EAP believes it has denonstrated that
its application for unit operations for the Cooper
B unit neets the requirenents of Chio Revised Code
Section 1509.28. So, we respectfully ask the
Division to grant our application. Thank you.

MR. LARGE: Thank you, everyone. The
hearing i s now concl uded.

Ther eupon, the foregoing proceedi ngs

concluded at 12:21 p.m
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State of Chio : CERTI FI CATE
County of Franklin: SS

|, Jack M Casey, a Notary Public in and for
the State of Chio, do hereby certify that |
transcri bed or supervised the transcription of the
audi o recordi ng of the aforenenti oned proceedi ngs;
that the foregoing is a true record of the
pr oceedi ngs.

| do further certify I amnot a relative,
enpl oyee or attorney of any of the parties hereto,
and further I amnot a relative or enployee of any
attorney or counsel enployed by the parties
hereto, or financially interested in the action.

| N WTNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set ny
hand and affixed ny seal of office at Col unbus,
Chi o, on January 8, 2026.

Jack M Casey, Notary Public - State of Chio
My conm ssi on expires Novenber 24, 2030.
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Exhibit D
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Section 5. Economic Calculation Summaries Required

Unitized Scenario

Undiscounted Estimated
Value of Gross
Lateral  Measured Operating Capital Estimated PVO PV10 Recovery
Well Name Length (ft) Depth (ft)  Costs (MM$)  Costs (MMS) Recovery (MMS) (MMS) (MmS$) (BCFe)  supplement
R&D COOPER NBU 5H | 20050 27361 19.29 12.89 59.80 20.62 10.28 13.87
R&D COOPER NBU 7H | 19088 27062 18.57 12.49 56.93 19.34 9.58 13.20 E
Total: | 39138 54423 37.86 25.38 116.73 39.96 19.86 27.07 I
Non-Unitized Scenario
Undiscounted Estimated
Value of Gross
Lateral Measured Operating Capital Estimated PVO PV10 Recovery
Well Name Length (ft) Depth (ft)  Costs (MMS) Costs (MMS) Recovery (MMS)  (MM$) (MMS) (BCFe)  supplement
R&D COOPER NBU 5H| 168 7479 4.44 1.98 .50 (.67) (1.39) A2
R&D COOPER NBU 7H| 438 8412 4.64 2.25 1.31 (.82) (1.51) .30
—1
Total: | 606 15891 9.08 4.23 1.81 (1.49) (2.90) 42
Difference
Undiscounted Estimated
Value of Gross
Lateral  Measured Operating Capital Estimated PVO PV10 Recovery
Well Name Length (ft) Depth (ft) Costs (MMS) Costs (MMS) Recovery (MMS)  (MMS) (MMS) (BCFe)  supplement
R&D COOPER NBU 5H | 19882 19882 14.85 10.91 59.30 21.29 11.67 13.75
R&D COOPER NBU 7H | 18650 18650 13.93 10.24 55.62 20.16 11.09 12.90
Total: | 38532 38532 28.78 21.15 114.92 41.45 2276 26.65
Section 6. Attachments Required Supplement
Working Interest Approvals Form(s)
Applicant's Operating Agreement
Affidavit of Operating Agreement (if applicable) .
Georeferenced File
Optional only for requests to amend orders for unit operations
Ohio Revised Code 1509.28 Application for Unit Operations Page30f5

Rev. 05/23
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Analogue Wells Used in Reserve Calculation Analysis
R & D Cooper NBU B Unit

Buffalo & Center Township
Noble County, OH

WELL LABEL API LATERAL LENGTH PRODUCTION SHL TO SHL

NAME NUMBER NUMBER (FT) START DATE (FT)
BROOKFIELD NBK15 #3A 1 34059246810000 17,690 10/15/2022 7.87 miles
WHITE RHINO NBK14 #11B 2 34059246820000 13,561 11/21/2024 7.06 miles
WHITE RHINO NBK14 #98B 3 34059246790000 16,987 11/21/2024 7.06 miles
WHITE RHINO NBK14 #78B 4 34059246830000 19,818 11/21/2024 7.06 miles
WHITE RHINO NBK14 #5B 5 34059246800000 17,383 11/21/2024 7.05 miles
MILEY 1H 6 34059246510000 19,948 6/30/2016 3.98 miles
MILEY 7H 7 34059246540000 18,302 6/30/2016 3.98 miles
MILEY UNIT 2H 8 34059246520000 19,545 7/31/2013 4.26 miles
MILEY UNIT 5HA 9 34059247110000 8,441 7/31/2012 4.26 miles
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Exhlblt - Adjacent Wells

R & D Cooper NBU B Unit
Buffalo, Noble & Center Townships
Noble Co., OH

1 inch =10,000 feet




Number Well Name APl

1 R&D COOPER NBU 5H PLANNED WELL
2 R&D COOPER MBU 7H PLANNED WELL
3 SANFORD UNIT 1H 34121243660100
4 BEARS NB BUF 1H 34121246840000
5 BEARS NB BUF 3H 34121246850000
5] BEARS NB BUF 5H 34121246860000
7 BEARS NB BUF 205H 34121246870000
2] BEARCATS NB BUF 6H 34121246970000
9 BEARCATS NB BUF 8H 34121246980000
10 BEARCATS NB BUF 10H 34121246990000
i} BEARCATS NB BUF 210H 34121247000000
12 BLUE BUTTERFLY GY WAL &H 34059246840000
13 BLUE BUTTERFLY GY VAL BH 34059246850000
14 BLUE BUTTERFLY GY VAL 10H 3405924 6860000
15 BLUE BUTTERFLY GY VAL 210H  34058246870000
16 MILEY 1H 34121245470100
17 MILEY 5H 34121245440000
18 MILEY 7H 34121245420000
19 TYGERS GY WAL 6H 34059246930000
20 TYGERS GY WAL 8H 34059246940000
21 TYGERS GY VAL 10H 34059246950000
22 TYGERS GY VAL 210H 34059246960000
23 DEBASER CN NBL 34 2ZH 34121244440000
24 DEBASER CN NBL 34 4H 34121244410000
25 DEBASER CN NBL 34 GH 34121244420000
26 DEBASER CN NBL 34 EBH 34121244430000
27 VAULT N MR NEL 33 1H 34121245230000
28 VAULT N MR NBL 39 3H 34121245240000
29 BLOOM MRN NBE 1H 34121246430000
30 BLOOM MRN NB 3H 34121246420000
3l BLOOM MRN NB 5H 34121246410000
32 WHITE RHIND NBK 58 34121246750000
33 WHITE RHIND NBK 78 34121246720000
34 WHITE RHINO NBK 3B 34121246730000
35 WHITE RHING NBK 11B 34121246740000
36 GEMSBOK NNB 1C 34121246880000
37 GEMSBOK NNB 3C 34121246890000
38 GEMSBOK NNB 5C 34121246900000
39 OSPREY NBK 1C 34121246950000
40 OSPREY NBK 3C 34121246960000

Exhibit - Adjacent Wells Table

R & D Cooper NBU B Unit
Buffalo, Moble & Center Townships
MNoble Co., OH

Frapamd Data: 12752023




October 22, 2025 Strip Price

Oil Price Gas Price

Year ($/bbl) (S/mcf)

2026 S 58.38 S 4.26
2027 S 59.54 S 3.92
2028 S 60.88 S 3.77
2029 S 62.81 S 3.56
2030 S 65.00 S 3.50

LIFE $ 65.00 $ 3.50



Thank you!

John Ferrell and Jason Lucas
Steptoe & Johnson PLLC
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